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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  . . . an effort to repeal SB 322.  Let’s ask those who are here to come forward on this item.  I apologize for the delay.


I think, probably, we will want as many people who can join us to do so, but let’s also make sure that Mr. John Shinstock, who is from the Department of Finance, does have a seat so that we can hear from him what their plans are.


Let me give members of this committee and the public a background on why we’ve brought this measure forward.


The governor’s budget that he released in January proposes to repeal legislation that this committee and I authored last year to require the Department of Health Services to develop guidelines for stem cell research that will be conducted in the State of California.  Stem cell research represents the hope, I believe, for the future.  It has the potential to develop cures and better treatments for a variety of diseases as well as chronic conditions, and they range from diabetes to Parkinson’s, to spinal chord injury, to cancer and heart disease.


But it’s not without controversy, as this committee well knows, primarily due to the fact that one of the most promising areas of the research involves the derivation and use of stem cells from human embryos.  The guidelines called for in SB 322 that was signed and is now the law will ensure that there are ethical and legal standards in place for stem cell research that is conducted in California.  There’s widespread consensus that having such guidelines will instill greater public confidence in the research which is vitally needed to help build and maintain public support for future funding of stem cell research.


The guidelines called for in SB 322 will also help distinguish the California stem cell research program from that of other states, and it would give researchers a reason to come to California and conduct the research that they know will be peer reviewed, that will be open to the public, and that will have the appropriate scrutiny to ensure that research continues in an ethical manner.


Given this, I was very disappointed to learn in January that the new administration was proposing to repeal this bill.  The budget savings associated with the repeal are minor—on the order of about $230,000.  That’s a drop in the bucket compared to the long-term benefits of improved health, reduced healthcare costs, and increased productivity associated with stem cell research.


The committee just today received a letter from Sandra Shewry who is the new director of Health Services, and I want to commend her.  In her letter she states that the department is supportive of SB 322 and the underlying policy it represents but that it cannot implement the guidelines without additional funding.


I’m quite heartened to hear the administration say that it has moved away from the initial position which was to repeal the very guidelines that are encompassed in the legislation and what is now the law.  I still have a number of questions for the administration about its commitment to that effort to look at future funding.


In addition to hearing from a representative of the administration today, we’ll also hear from researchers, medical providers, and patients, as well as their families and caregivers, about the importance of stem cell research and the guidelines that we need to move forward in this research area.


With that, I want to thank all of you for coming here today.  Many of you have come from out of town.  I know you waited patiently—over a half an hour—to accommodate our committee members’ needs.


If there are other members who would like to make comments or not, then we can proceed with the testimony.


SENATOR SAM AANESTAD:  Just a point of clarification.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Certainly.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  I understand there might be a new policy this year where separate departments and agencies are allowed to take a position without approval from the governor’s office.  Are we to assume that this letter from the Department of Health Services dated today represents the thinking of the governor?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t know if Mr. Shinstock is here from Finance, but let me just say that it’s actually the question I was prepared to ask—whether this position by the director of Health Services that’s reflected in the letter we have before the committee is indeed the position of the administration downstairs.  In the past, we didn’t hear from the administration until the day the bill was headed to the governor’s desk, and we would be surprised often.  But, it is the very question I certainly would like answered.  We did extend the invitation to Ms. Shewry to clarify that.  I don’t believe she’s going to make it today.  And I don’t know if Mr. Shinstock is prepared to commit the governor’s office, but that would be our opening question, and you would be our first witness for clarification on the administration’s position.


MR. JOE SHINSTOCK:  Thank you, Madam Chair and committee members.


I can’t answer that question.  I don’t know whether or not it represents the administration’s policy.  What I am here to do is represent the policy from the fall.  There were many bills that came forward from the last summer session that included costs but no resources to fund those costs.  The policy was to ease the pressure on General Fund resources and repeal new legislation with new costs to ease the cost on General Fund resources.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  So, the answer is, we don’t know.


MR. SHINSTOCK:  We don’t know.  But I can get back to you on that if you’d like.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I do appreciate that, and I think the committee would welcome that clarification.


For those who didn’t receive a copy of the letter, it’s on the table in the back there, so hopefully you’ve got that.  The closing paragraph is:  “I understand the Department of Finance will be available at the upcoming hearing to answer questions on behalf of the Administration.”  So, having answered that first question, which was probably the toughest one that you’re going to be having to handle in this committee, let me go on to ask . . .


Mr. Shinstock, did you state your name for the record and your position?


MR. SHINSTOCK:  My name is Joe Shinstock.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you are from . . .


MR. SHINSTOCK:  Department of Finance.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Madam Chair, wasn’t the purpose of this meeting to find out what administration’s position was?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re trying.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  I mean, all of the other folks around in support and all of the experts, we had that testimony last year when the bill was voted on.  I think the only question here today is . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let me just clarify that.  When this measure came to our budget subcommittee—and you didn’t have the opportunity to be here—there were a number of items that were pulled off of the budget review by our subcommittee because they had policy implications.  Of course, the fiscal decision to present or not present in a budget has major policy implications.  Whether the administration is committed or not, it is tied to the debate about the policy.  The chair has extended the invitation, it was noticed to such, and the witnesses here are here because I’ve asked them to talk about the policy.  You cannot talk about an administration position to attempt to not fund a proposal—an attempt that has not moved forward to repeal from statute the mandate that’s on the books this day—without talking about the significance of the policy issue.


So, I think it’s absolutely appropriate.  That’s why I extended the invitation.  And I would respectfully disagree with the vice chair and certainly ask our witnesses, who’ve been patient, who’ve traveled from afar, to begin their testimony.

Well, let’s hear from Mr. Shinstock.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  One more thing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


SENATOR AANESTAD:  Just for clarification.  It’s not just the administration that didn’t fund it.  The Legislature did not appropriate or recommend any funds for it either.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, we moved a budget last year that had that incorporated.  So, it was the pre-mid-year cuts when the new administration came in that exercised—I don’t know if it’s under Section 27—the authority to say they’re not going to fund these items.  But it was in our budget going forward last year.  So, that’s why the trailer bill in the subcommittee action was in conflict.


I have a couple of questions for the representative from Finance.  Let me ask you to clarify what the cost estimates are because I think when we keyed this last year, it came out of the Legislature at $233,000, and then, Ms. Shewry’s letter actually suggests it’s something less than that.  Maybe you can clarify the difference in those figures.  And her letter, hopefully you have a copy of it.  She’s now suggesting it’s actually a lower amount of $220,000 and two staff.


MR. SHINSTOCK:  Yes.  It’s my understanding that the $233,000 figure came from our fiscal analysis from the bill analysis last summer.  The 220,000 is a more updated, clearer understanding of what would be required of the bill and what DHS would have to do to implement the bill.  It represents about $110,000 for two positions and $110,000 for operating expenses for support of the committee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, it’s nice to hear of cost going down rather than up.


According to the fiscal analysis on the bill last year when it was pending, DHS estimated at that time that it would be $135,000 to contract with someone to develop and disseminate the guidelines, and that included a figure of 90,000 in meeting expenses.  I think that $90,000 is a bit high.  So, maybe you can clarify even that $90,000 for meetings.  You know, if it’s a thirteen-member body that would only meet periodically over the course of a year to provide input on the guidelines, I’m not sure why that figure is as high.  Maybe we can actually bring that two-twenty down even further.


MR. SHINSTOCK:  Are you talking about the 233,000 or the 220,000?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  According to the original fiscal analysis on the bill, when it was pending, DHS estimated at that time that it would need $135,000 to contract with someone to develop and disseminate the guidelines.  Do you have the figure for that item?


MR. SHINSTOCK:  I have the write-up for this hearing, and I have the 135,000, but I don’t have a breakdown of what that 135,000 is.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can we share that with him?  It comes from the DHS estimate on cost.  Within that one thirty-five, they identified 90,000 for meeting costs.  It just seems a bit high.  If we can bring some clarity to that figure, it might bring the 220,000 down even further.


MR. SHINSTOCK:  Well, to be honest, I don’t have that information.  I don’t know.  I can’t evaluate whether that’s high or not.  I don’t know what it includes, whether it includes travel expenses or teleconferencing expenses; things like that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, is the department saying it can’t find two positions to devote to the guidelines out of the thousands of positions it has?  


MR. SHINSTOCK:  It’s our understanding that they cannot absorb this cost.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  For two bodies—for two positions.


Well, the letter states that the Department of Health Services is prepared to work with the Legislature and other interested parties to secure private resources sufficient to implement the bill.  


Can you clarify or share with the committee whether or not the administration has begun that process of seeking private foundation funding to develop the guidelines?


MR. SHINSTOCK:  On the Department of Finance side, I do not believe that we have started looking for private funding.  On DHS’s side, I can’t answer that, but they are willing to do so.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you know whether there have been discussions either from Finance or Health Services to begin that?


MR. SHINSTOCK:  I believe there have been discussions regarding the use of private funding, and we are always open to consideration for additional ideas.  If you have any, I can take them.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know in the past—whether a yet-to-be implemented program that I created a while back in legislation—we had to seek specific authority to allow private as well as foundation funding for the development of the standards of exposure to mold.  That has yet to occur, of course, but we had to statutorily authorize the seeking of those dollars.  


Do we need statutory authority, legislative authority, to clarify this position of the administration to seek private funding?


MR. SHINSTOCK:  It is possible.  I would have to get back to you on that just to clarify and make sure that that’s the case.  I don’t know for sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know we’re putting you on the spot because we don’t have Ms. Shewry with us, but if you could take those inquiries back.


Now, can you tell us what the May revise assumes about these stem cell guidelines?  We’re all anxiously awaiting the May revise, but I was hoping I could get some insight as to whether this item is. . . . and the May revise is the governor’s revised budget once the April receipts come in to determine what we really do have on hand to fund government functions.


MR. SHINSTOCK:  Actually, I can’t comment on what’s in the May revise at this time.  I can comment that for the April update, there is no further movement on the stem cell issue, and the position is still moving forward with the trailer bill language to repeal SB 322.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Our understanding is that trailer bill language is not moving forward.  It appears to have missed a policy deadline in the house of origin, so I’m not sure . . .


MR. SHINSTOCK:  Are you speaking of Monday’s meeting to take them out of here . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, the legislative effort to affirmatively repeal the law.


MR. SHINSTOCK:  Okay.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, when is the May revise?  What’s the date?


MR. SHINSTOCK:  May 13th, I believe.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Just so the public understands, on May 13th, we’ll get a peek at where the administration may be on a number of programs.  It’s the second version of the administration’s budget from Finance.  So, we’ll be anxiously looking for this item in the May revise.


Questions from other committee members for the representative from Finance?


Thank you, and thank you for being here.  Maybe my staff could work with you so, if and when you come back and we need to revisit this, we can determine whether that 90,000 for meetings is comparable to other groups that meet very infrequently during the year and whether we can determine whether it’s really quite that expensive.  I suspect not.  So, maybe we can help.  And if you would like to forward more information to the committee by way of correspondence and come back to us, we’d welcome that.


MR. SHINSTOCK:  Absolutely.  Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


All right.  I know there’s a number of people who are here, and I think it’s important that we allow you all time.  We’ve gone over time, and I have two bills in the Insurance Committee that I need to present at some point.


So, with that, let me ask the order of testimony—and many of you are pros here—let me ask on the topic of the perspective of stem cell research and medical providers three minutes each please.  Let’s start with Dr. Larry Goldstein, and it’s good to see you, Larry.


Welcome.


DR. LAWRENCE GOLDSTEIN:  Thank you.  Thank you all for taking the time.  [microphone adjustments]


I want to thank you, first of all, Senator Ortiz, for taking the time to do this; for championing this cause and for providing leadership in the search for new cures and therapies for disease.


As many of you know, I’m a practicing bench scientist and professor at UCSD at the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.  I’m rarely seen in the light of day, in fact.  My work is on understanding how the brain works and trying to use that information to understand and develop treatments for diseases such as Alzheimer’s disease, Parkinson’s disease, Lou Gehrig’s disease, and spinal cord injury.


Given that background, my opinion is that human embryonic stem cell research is one of the most important, new scientific research opportunities to appear in many years.  Thus, I’ve recently launched new research projects using these incredibly valuable and powerful cells.


My scientific opinion is that this research brings the possibility of not only developing brand new approaches to understanding and treating diseases but also to launching new businesses in a totally new type of industry in California.  This type of industry will, I believe, bring massive economic benefits to our state.


I also don’t need to remind you that this area of research bears the burden of significant ethical issues that concern the public, and these issues must be responsibly managed to ensure that this important research proceeds but with appropriate ethical limitations.  


Again, speaking as a practicing bench scientist, we are already heavily regulated.  You might then ask:  Why would someone such as myself, who is admittedly allergic to paperwork, ask for more?  The answer is that I truly believe that refusing to develop the guidelines required in SB 322 would in fact be a very dangerous move.  On the one hand, public concerns about this research would not be addressed, reinforcing the worry that scientists such as myself will proceed without regard for the public.  On the other hand, failing to develop these guidelines runs the risk of sending the message to me and to the rest of the scientific community that this research is not welcome in California and that the environment will remain uncertain and inconsistent.


I cannot emphasize enough the harm that an uncertain environment is likely to cause.  If we look back thirty years to the dawn of the era of recombinant DNA, we learn that responsible regulation was critical to the development of this important field.  This field then produced many medical benefits and launched one of California’s most important industries:  the biotechnology industry.  We also learned that good regulation spreads and serves as a model for others and is key to enabling responsible and vigorous scientific and medical progress.


In closing, I believe that tough choices must be made to ensure that the budget of California’s government returns to fiscal sanity, but I also believe in investment.  Thus, I think it makes no sense to refuse to invest a comparatively small amount of money when failing to make that investment will endanger the prospects of huge economic and social returns; certainly, millions of dollars.  Perhaps billions.  Making such a choice would be an expensive mistake.  


And I’ll just note—although the financial analyst is no longer here—that if it would help, I would be happy to donate my time and travel costs to help develop these guidelines.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank, Dr. Goldstein.


Next witness:  Dr. Mark Zern.  Welcome.


DR. MARK ZERN:  Thank you, Madam Chair and members. 


My name is Mark Zern.  I’m a professor of medicine and director of the Transplant Research Institute at UC Davis Medical Center.  I’m here today to speak in opposition to the repeal of SB 322.  


I’m here now, missing the Transplant Research Committee meeting.  During that meeting we make a decision who gets liver transplants and who does not.  About one in five of the people presented to the committee get liver transplants.  The others do not and have no other treatment for them.  What this means in numbers is perhaps 50,000 people in the United States do not get the liver transplants that are necessary to save their lives.  So, as a clinician, this is a very frustrating situation.


As a researcher—a bench researcher—who’s involved in the research with human embryonic stem cells and other approaches to develop immortalized liver cells so that liver cell transplantation or the use of a bioartificial organ can be developed, I’m very much in favor of the continuation of human embryonic stem cell research and the continuation of SB 322.


SB 322 is crucial for the implementation of the stem cell laws that are here.  It’s crucial in a number of ways, as Dr. Goldstein said.  It is crucial for the investigators to keep a check on inappropriate research, and it’s crucial for the public to give them the feeling that inappropriate research is not going to be done. 


Therefore, as both a clinician and as a researcher, I agree that it would be a very inappropriate action to repeal SB 322.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Zern, as always.  Dr. Zern was here last year and helped testify as we moved three twenty-two through.  


For those of you who have loved ones or yourself are struggling with liver disease, this is one of the more promising areas with stem cell research and certainly is something that we should all be really aware of and supportive of.


Let me take a moment to introduce Dr. Green, who is our next speaker.  He’s a well-known leader in this area.  He participated in the passage of three twenty-two last fall and has been instrumental in some of the early planning for an expanded role for UC Davis, we hope soon, in the area of stem cell research.


So, let me welcome you and invite your testimony.


DR. RALPH GREEN:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, and thank you for the opportunity of making some brief comments.


I, first of all, would like to endorse all the comments made by my colleagues—by Dr. Goldstein, by Dr. Zern—in support of this.  I will, rather than be redundant, focus on some issues that perhaps need some reinforcement and also some additional points that I would like to bring forward.


Two weeks ago I was part of a panel that visited Washington—as the Caucus for Basic Biomedical Chairs—representing the more broadly focused issue of federal support for research and the concerns that there may be an impending reduction in budget.  One of the issues that came up repeatedly in discussions that we had with staff people from senators and Congress persons on the Hill were that the pioneering efforts made in the State of California to move forward the initiative of stem cell research and the importance of that endeavor to this very exciting area represents, arguably, the most significant breakthrough that we have witnessed in the past several years nationally and globally.  We have the potential to remain at the forefront of that nationally.  And I think that right at the leading edge of that is the innovative legislation that has been introduced here in the State of California that others nationally are looking enviously upon.


We also have an opportunity to stem the flow of outstanding researchers that have already left the United States to work in other environments where there are no restrictions on the use of stem cells.  And I do want to emphasize that the use of embryonic stem cells, as I’m sure informed members of this audience well know, is exclusively for the therapeutic use.  The importance of Senator Ortiz’s bill in SB 322 and the various aspects that are dealt with in that bill is to ensure and safeguard that the necessary safety measures are introduced.  And as Dr. Goldstein has mentioned, we’ve witnessed during the era of the boom that resulted from biotechnology advances in the State of California—again, I think we were at the very forefront of that—that the opportunities to move forward in that, despite some concerns and reservations, are not misplaced, but certainly, they need to be taken into consideration with respect to the type of legislation that SB 322 speaks to.


You’ve heard from Dr. Goldstein about the small investment in that measure that would result potentially in large financial benefits quite apart from the benefits in advancement of human research.  And you will hear from others gathered around this table that I think most compellingly speak to the need to move forward here, from patients and their advocates.


I thank you again for the opportunity.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Green, and I look forward to our community here and that UC Davis, being a leader, will hopefully encourage some of those San Diego researchers to come up north.


Let me now ask Shannon Smith-Crowley from the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists to provide testimony.  ACOG has been a consistent supporter, and I thank them and would welcome your testimony at this time.


MS. SHANNON SMITH-CROWLEY:  Thank you, Madam Chair and members.


One thing that’s striking me as I’m sitting here listening to the testimony so far is this incongruity in terms of where we’ve been in the past in terms of being on the forefront of a scientific breakthrough and that lead again to technology and industry and an economic engine for the state and reading the paper earlier this week that talked about where the United States is in terms of losing our standing in the world in terms of innovations and science.


This is such an important issue, not only for the economic engine but for people.  This affects people on an everyday basis, giving them hope.  From the OB/GYN’s perspective, one of our issues is, is that there is a huge increase in the use of a sister reproductive technology, and one of the byproducts of that is there are embryos and eggs that are unused that could be used to work in this area and that people will not donate those embryos and eggs if there are not specific guidelines; if there is not specific informed consent; if this is not worked through.


So, there’s a huge missed opportunity by not having these guidelines in place, and we wholeheartedly support SB 322 and oppose its repeal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, and I think that opens up a point that needs to be made.  The law in California now is that one cannot embark upon production of embryos (as a result of the legislation I did originally) solely for the purpose of doing research.  That safeguard had not been in place prior to the introduction and the passage of the stem cell authorization law in California.  I think that’s an important point, that the law had been unregulated.  In fact, there was nothing to prohibit persons embarking upon production solely for the purpose of research.  I think the distinction is when embryos are left in fertility treatment centers, it was indeed permitted to be able to sell them if, in fact, the intent was to produce them for that purpose.  Now we have laws in place to prohibit the purchase and sale solely for that purpose, and I think that’s a step forward.  


California, unlike Congress, has passed a law to ban human cloning.  Congress hasn’t come to the place where they can agree on that policy.  California is a leader, a pioneer, in that area as well.


So, I think we have more safeguards in place, and without this ethical oversight, there indeed could be inappropriate research conducted, and the state would not have the ability to determine whether we could discover that and intervene and halt that.  So, I do appreciate your testimony.


Let me just see if any of the speakers feel competent to respond to this.  The California Advisory Committee on Human Cloning recommended in 2002 that therapeutic cloning, which is a form of stem cell research that we’re discussing now—they recommended that it be allowed to be conducted in California subject to reasonable oversight.  In anyone’s opinion—at least the researchers that have spoken thus far—would stem cell guidelines to address ethical and legal issues in the research area provide a form of reasonable oversight?  I think the question’s pretty obvious, but tell me how we can get from this law to the point where we develop those guidelines and provide the kind of precision and focus that are necessary to assure that this is conducted in a reasonable manner.


Dr. Goldstein?  Dr. Green?


DR. GOLDSTEIN:  I think SCNT, in addition to what Ms. Crowley mentioned, is another area where regulation is critical because, given the fears about the misuse of the products of SCNT for reproductive cloning, there are some very specific steps that can probably be used to make that much more difficult, in addition, of course, to the consequences of embarking on an illegal action.  Some of the simplest ones are simply making sure that SCNT is done in a setting where implantation is not possible; that is, if there’s separation of the research uses from clinical uses of IVF embryos and the like.  That’s one of the simplest ways to move, but we don’t have that prohibition here and, so, no simple way of maintaining oversight.


DR. ZERN:  I’d just like to say that the National Academy of Science made a similar recommendation:  human reproductive cloning should not be allowed but that therapeutic cloning should be allowed to go forward under reasonable supervision.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


The fact that the federal government, due to its severe funding limits on embryonic stem cell research, has divided no guidelines in this area, isn’t it even more reason for California to step forward and provide that direction in the absence, again, of federal leadership?


DR. GOLDSTEIN:  Again, that’s the lesson of history.  With recombinant DNA, the federal government was a player because they provided ample funding and developed the regulatory guidelines.  Unfortunately, they have stayed home on this one, and so, there’s a vacuum.  California, by providing reasonable guidelines, could set the standards for the rest of the world, and that would be a good thing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


We do have a number of the patients, family, and caregiver community that I’ve asked to come forward and provide a perspective.  I’m going to ask you all, despite your long travel time and your patience in waiting, to try to keep your comments fairly brief—one minute or slightly over.  I know it’s difficult, and it’s unfair in that we’ve asked you to come here, but I would ask you to do that, and if you can do so, I would welcome that.


And if there are those who have testified that would like to step down and allow some of the other families and patients and caregivers to come forward, I would encourage that, particularly if access is difficult for the individuals.


Let me ask Mr. Roman Reed and Don Reed, who are from Cures for California, to begin the testimony.


Welcome.


MR. DON REED:  My name is Don Reed.  I am the father of Roman Reed, sitting beside me.  If he was not here, I would say about some of the agonies that he endures every day; but he is here, and he said, No pity parties, Dad.  So, I have my instructions.  I have to drive home with him on the way back, so I won’t say what’s in my heart.


But I will say, from a sheer economic standpoint we cannot not afford to put in this piddling little bit of money of $233,000.  This is so ridiculous.  We’re spending $3 trillion as a nation on medical costs, both directly related to medicine and indirectly as, for instance, missed work.  We have to fight this, and we can only fight it two ways.  We only lower medical costs two ways:  either by abandoning people or by curing them.  


This bill, SB 322, is about making sure that the research is responsible.  Who can possibly be against that?


I would like to ask a question.  Other health bills, health legislation, has been reduced by 10 percent or approximately thereof.  Why is this not done to ours?  We could take a cut.  But to gut us, to annihilate, to single out stem cell research oversight for complete removal of funding—why are we given this honor?  This is wrong.  This should not be allowed.  


I would urge the Schwarzenegger Administration to reconsider their position.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, as always.


MR. ROMAN REED:  Hello.  Thank you for your time.


My name is Roman Reed, and I have had the great fortune to have a lab named after me:  the Roman Reed Core Laboratory at UC Irvine, Christopher Reeve Center.


In this laboratory I was able to hold in my hands a rat that had been completely paralyzed walk again, and he walked again through the use of embryonic stem cells.  This is my hope:  that it will happen for the humans who are suffering so tragically.


I know of a six-year-old girl, Mandy, who, when she has to change her respirator that she breathes on, has to sit there and lie and choke while another machine is hooked up.  That’s not right, and that should not happen to a six-year-old child.  Stem cells can cure this.


Please understand that if the Governor Schwarzenegger Administration completely removes the money for public oversight, that is not something small.  It can only be regarded as a direct attack on our families and our loved ones.


Governor Gray Davis signed into legislation Senator Ortiz’s fine bill, three twenty-two, which has given hope to so many.  Senator Ortiz shines in all of our eyes.  She’s a warrior for us, and she did this with legislation that really basically costs nothing.  It’s only $233,000, which sounds like a lot, but it’s infinitesimally small in the overall budget.  With this we can assure the correct oversight and regulation of stem cells that can go forward, and we can cure all the people who are suffering regularly.  


So, please, I would ask you all to take a stand; to take a stand so one day everybody can support the funding of SB 322.  It is vital.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Than you, Roman, as always.


It’s compelling stories, and I want to hear all of them, so let’s just go ahead and go around.


MS. KAREN MINER:  I’m Karen Miner.  I have a spinal cord injury.  It’s eleven years.


I just quickly want to say, I’ll get past all the humanitarian reasons because I could talk about those for days, but just economics.  I totally cannot understand $233,000.  The math is there.  You put that money down, all the money that’s going to come back to the state.  And we’re just talking money, like I say.


All of us are destined to have some sort of disability unless you have a heart attack or are in a car accident that kills you.  It’s just a matter of time before you’re disabled in some way.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Why don’t we go back and allow those who weren’t able to speak on that side to use the mike before we get to Mr. Markes.


MS. SUSAN RACHI:  Hi.  I’m Susan Rachi.  I was paralyzed in a car accident eight years ago.  My children were three and five.  For the last eight years, they’ve had to endure to take care of me, whether it was to put my shoes on or pick me up off the floor or call 9-1-1.


It is really hard for them.  It affects our families.  It affects our loved ones.  It will happen to just anybody in the near future, whether you have Alzheimer’s, Parkinson’s, MS.  It will be you down the road.  


Don’t say no to this—please.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Rachi.  Always here to help us from the beginning in our informational hearings.


Next speaker:  Mr. Markes.


MR. JOHN MARKES:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I want to thank you and the committee.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you identify yourself?


MR. MARKES:  My name is John Markes.  I’m sorry.  I’m from Richmond.  I’m a former council member.  But I’m here to offer moral and physical support to my sister-in-law who is going to speak in a few minutes, and I defer my time to her, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MS. JUANITA HERNANDEZ REAVES:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and committee members.  Thank you for the opportunity to speak to you today.


My name is Juanita Hernandez Reaves, and on July 23, 2003, I was diagnosed with ALS (Lou Gehrig’s disease).  Upon receiving my diagnosis, my short life passed before my very eyes.  I imagined the look on my fourteen-year-old son’s face as he heard my news, and I knew the fear and helplessness my family and friends must now live with.  I felt betrayed by my body, let down by modern medicine and scared, but I was told that I was in a good place because research has come a long way and that I qualified for an umbilical cord blood trial, but the FDA shot that down.  Choosing not to give up, I asked my doctor what I could do to help myself and others, and I was told, Push for stem cells.   


With the contacts I made and the research skills I learned as staff to Congressman George Miller, I learned everything I could about stem cells and began to publicize my plight.  I learned that there are endless possibilities that stem cell treatment can provide to all of us that have been stricken with disease or injury.  These possibilities must become realities.  You can help move the roadblocks to discovery and healing and untie the hands of motivated doctors, scientists, and researchers.  


Right now, our best shot at treating hundreds of thousands of people afflicted with disease and injuries is through stem cells.  I personally have received over 1,800 signatures and words of support from people who have visited my website—helpnitafightALS.com—and you have received a copy of some of them.


In closing, I remember asking my doctor to get this disease out of me, and he said he couldn’t.  This committee holds the power to find a way to get it out of me.  It begins with fundraising, with funding stem cell research, and then advancement to the next level:  human trials that would benefit me and one day maybe even you.  Myself and humanity will be indebted to your swift action toward making trials a reality.


I thank you, Senator Ortiz, for your efforts.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. BILL REMAK:  Madam Chairman, I’ll just be brief.  My name is Bill Remak.


The California Hepatitis C Task Force opposes the repeal of SB 322.  This group represents, potentially, 650,000 people infected in the State of California.  We have no idea to what degree this may help find a cure for hepatitis and other liver diseases, but I can tell you one thing.  Diabetes is one disease that follows in a large percentage of people that have hepatitis, and if we can find a cure for that, there’s so many people that will be that much happier and well.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for the reminder.


Next witness?


I’m going to ask those who can to try to stay in the one minute so there is time for public comment and questions.


MR. FRAN LOPES:  Madam Chairman, my name is Fran Lopes.  I’m cofounder of Research for Cure whose sole purpose is to raise money for medical research, and I’ve had the opportunity to see rats cured.


I just don’t understand why. . . . this technology is so important financially for the State of California and the nation and the world, and to have this repealed is senseless.  Senseless.  Especially when a lot of this is ethical issues supposedly.  I just don’t understand it.


But I appreciate the efforts that Ms. Ortiz has made with this bill. 


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you.  You’ve been with us in every committee hearing, and we’re trying.  I think this is a good sign from the administration.  Well, we don’t know if it’s the governor’s office proper, but I do at least want to acknowledge that the letter from Department of Health Services is a good beginning, but it’s only because of your testimony and others who’ve been telling the story and retelling it.  So, thank you.


Next witness?


MS. DEVARA BERGER:  Hi.  My name is Devara Berger.  I’m here today on behalf of Californians for Disability Rights, Gray Panthers, and family caregivers with a brain-impaired loved one.  


We do not want to see SB 322 repealed.  We know what it’s like to live in an environment where all you face is despair, deterioration, or death.  We know what it’s like to see hope vanished and to have public policy restricted.  We feel that this is an excellent policy, and we hope it will go forward.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Devara.


MS. CAROL VELARDE:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and members.


My name is Carol Velarde.  I’m representing Hadassah, the Women’s Zionist Organization of America, and I’m proud to say that our more than 30,000 members in California stand with all of us at the table here today.


Hadassah has long been a proponent of stem cell research, and in fact, our hospital in Israel, the Hadassah Medical Organization, was the second in the world to develop viable cell lines with which cutting edge stem cell research is currently being conducted.


As was noted earlier, much of the research is leaving the United States, and in fact, the United Kingdom, which has much more supportive policies, has taken the leadership in this field.  They are now leading the International Stem Cell Forum which is comprised of scientific agencies from nearly a dozen countries.  


It’s been well noted that the paltry amount that this commission would cost to establish the guidelines is, quite frankly, in my mind, a disgrace that we can’t come up with that money, and I certainly urge the governor to display leadership, vision, and courage and leave the funding available for the commission to go forward.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Carol, and thank Hadassah on the committee’s behalf.


MS. VELARDE:  If I might add—my mother died with Alzheimer’s.  For more than ten years we watched her disappear little by little until the last year of her life.  She could no longer speak because her muscles no longer functioned, and she could barely eat because even the pureed food that was thickened couldn’t stay down.  


We owe more than what’s currently being provided to the people we care for, and for $220,000, I’m sure we can find that money.  As Dr. Goldstein said, I’m not a medical person, but I will be happy to devote my time and whatever skills I have to the commission if that will help.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Carol, for everything you do.


We now have Greg Wasson and Ms. Campbell.  Welcome again.


MR. GREG WASSON:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  I’ll try to keep this short.


My name is Greg Wasson, and Ann Campbell and I represent the Parkinson’s Action Network.  I’ve had Parkinson’s disease for nine years.  It’s an incurable, progressive, neurological brain disorder.


I’m going to cut to the chase and just say that the money needed to fund the development of guidelines under SB 322 is, in my opinion, chump change, and eliminating that expenditure will contribute almost nothing to solving the state’s budget woes; but stripping the funding from the stem cell IRB delivers a clear message that will send a chill through scientists and researchers.  That message is that the state’s commitment to this research is an easy sacrifice to a new administration looking to achieve a short-term goal.  The message to me as a patient is that, under this administration, the concerns of the owners of Hummers seeking a tax rebate easily override the concerns of the chronically ill.  Some may call it merely a temporary setback in a program that has the administration’s overall approval, but those who do not survive the delay may truly be said to. . . . it is truly for those who do not survive this delay—hasta la vista, baby.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for putting that into perspective.


MS. ANN CAMPBELL:  As I sit here, I wrote a note to myself to turn my tears into anger.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ann, would you identify yourself for the record?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I’m sorry.  My name is Ann Campbell, and I’m with the Parkinson’s Action Network.  “Tears Into Anger” is my new motto.


But I wanted to just put another perspective on this.  Last year I was here, and I said I had been eight years out with Parkinson’s disease, and I was an old woman at age 45.  I’m now nine years out, and I’m still an old woman at age 46.


Two hundred and thirty-three thousand dollars will buy half of a three-bedroom home in San Francisco; buy five years of an education for one student at Stanford; 3½ BMW 325s; Rolex watches for all the people who’ve sat around this table; two years for one person in a nursing home—that’s bed and board only—or it will buy a set of guidelines for a review board for human embryonic stem cells that has the potential to cure thousands and thousands of people.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ann, as always.


Mr. John Ames.  Welcome.  You might reintroduce yourself.


MR. JOHN AMES:  Thank you.  My name is John Ames.  I’m from the Bay Area.  I have four children.  The third son’s name is David.  He has ALS.  He has a baby that’s twenty months old, and two days ago he had his second baby.


Two hundred and thirty thousand dollars.  Where’s our values?  He’d like to see his kids grow up.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MS. CARRIE PORTLOCK:  Just for the record, I’m Carrie Portlock with the Diabetes Coalition of California, and on behalf of the American Diabetes Association and the DCC, we just believe that embryonic stem cell research is crucial to finding a cure for diabetes.  It has tremendous potential.


And so, we just encourage everyone to do everything they can to find the funding for this.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. WOODY HOFFMAN:  My name is Woody Hoffman, and I’m here to tell you why I believe that stem cell research is so important for families living with Alzheimer’s disease.


I was diagnosed with Alzheimer’s at age 59 in July of 2002.  Because of Alzheimer’s, I had to take early retirement from a thirty-six-year public service career.  Even though I have Alzheimer’s, I consider myself lucky.  I’m lucky that I live in California where I have access to the best Alzheimer’s research facilities in the world.  I’m lucky to be diagnosed at this time in history when I have been a beneficiary of the Alzheimer’s research of the last twenty years.  I’m lucky that I was diagnosed early enough for current treatments to keep my condition stable.  Yet, there’s the rub.  All the luck in the world won’t help me if the disease progresses faster than our progress toward a cure.


It’s important to me and millions of others that nothing impedes the progress toward a cure for Alzheimer’s.  We don’t have years to wait.  Your support for ground-breaking approaches like stem cell research is vital to ending Alzheimer’s in our lifetimes.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Final speaker in support.


MS. CATHERINE DODD:  My name is Catherine Dodd, and I am Woody Hoffman’s wife.  I’m here to tell you why I also believe stem cell research is so important for everyone touched by Alzheimer’s.


Woody told you that he was diagnosed with Alzheimer’s at the young age of 59.  What he didn’t tell you was that he was diagnosed less than four months after we were married.  You learned that Woody was forced to cut short a distinguished public service career.  What he didn’t say is that my twenty-year business career is also over due to Alzheimer’s.  My energies are now focused on helping my husband fight Alzheimer’s both privately and publicly as volunteers and spokespeople for the Alzheimer’s Association.


If you think our situation is unusual because we are young, because we’ve sacrificed our careers, or because we are Alzheimer’s activists, you would be wrong on all counts.  In Washington, D.C., in March and here in Sacramento today, there are many others like us:  diagnosed, young and old, forced to make heartbreaking sacrifices in every aspect of their lives, and increasingly vocal about the urgency of our plight.


Woody and I and those like us don’t have years to wait.  We need a cure now.  It is crucial that all research avenues for Alzheimer’s stay open so that a cure is found as soon as possible.  Please support stem cell research in California.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you very much for your testimony.


Other witnesses in support?


MR. BRUCE PALMER:  Bruce Palmer with Health Officers Association of California in opposition to the repeal of SB 322.


And I’ve got to tell you, I also have a personal reason for being up here.  I have a twin brother with Hep C who has been on the liver transplant list for quite some time.  Many members in my family have diabetes, and, of course, I’m fighting cancer right now, and I know that this research will do a lot to add to the knowledge and understanding of that particular area.  So, we’re strongly opposed to this repeal.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Bruce, and the Health Officers.


MS. SANTOSH SEERAM:  Santosh Seeram with Planned Parenthood Affiliates of California, and we oppose the repeal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MS. CANDACE LUPER:  Senator Ortiz and committee.  My name is Candace Luper.  I’m from Orange County, California.  I’m here today advocating for the Alzheimer’s Association.  


I brought a picture of my mom and my daughter.  My mother has suffered with dementia—with Lewy bodies—Parkinson’s and stroke, as well as Alzheimer’s disease for more than ten years.  Other members of my family have also died from Alzheimer’s disease.  If SB 322 is repealed, the legacy of Alzheimer’s disease may continue in my family in my generation and into future generations.  My mother’s care each year costs more than the cost of implementing this program.  


The continuation of this research is critical.  Please don’t let my child go through the same journey that we have gone through.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for the obvious to some but I think is a tool for education for others.  So, thank you for helping us.


Any other public testimony before this committee?


Let me welcome Mr. Crony to come forward; I suspect not in support of opposing the repeal but on the other side of it.


MR. ART CRONY:  Thank you, Madam Chair and members.  Art Crony representing Responsible Citizens, Inc.  I’d like to point out a couple of things to the committee.


We’re all on the same side trying to alleviate the heartbreak of the human suffering that we’ve just heard, and we know this isn’t even the tip of the iceberg.  This is just like one molecule of the iceberg when you look at humanity.  I have two grandsons, both with Type I diabetes, and I had dinner with them last night.  About once a week.  They both got it at two years old, and the older one is fourteen, and I can see some deterioration.  It breaks my heart.


But members, there are three sources of stem cells.  There are adult stem cells, primarily from bone marrow transplants, but they’re doing research in other areas with adult stem cells also.  Adult stem cells have saved over 40,000 lives already and even successfully treated one man in California with Parkinson’s disease about two years ago.


There are umbilical cord stem cells that have saved over 2,000 children’s lives.  These are kids that would have died otherwise.  Umbilical cord stem cells have saved over 2,000 lives.  They’re not quite working out yet for adults, but that is coming soon with more research.


Embryonic stem cells have not saved a life yet.  They’re created by human cloning which involves killing human embryos.  They are genetically damaged because of the cloning process.  The nuclear transfer process damages the cells.  They’ve even caused cancer in lab animals.  We don’t think it’s compassionate to give people you just heard testify here a risk of having cancer on top of what else they have.


On the advisory committee, we believe the amount of money is nearly insignificant.  Like people have testified, we agree to that.  But there’s a problem with it in that it would divert attention away from and resources away from what does work—adult and umbilical cord research and treatments—and towards what doesn’t work.  Embryonic stem cells are the least promising of the stem cell research.  They are difficult to obtain, they are expensive, they are morally objectionable, and they’re, as I mentioned, genetically damaged from the result of a nuclear transfer process and have caused cancer in animals.  They have not yet been used in human beings.


Now, just today in the Sacramento Bee there was a news report from a Chicago lab that has used in vitro fertilization to create healthy babies whose umbilical cord or bone marrow can be used to treat older siblings.  It was very interesting.  This was rejected in Great Britain.  One couple had to come from England to the United States because in Great Britain they wouldn’t do this procedure.


But don’t confuse this with embryonic stem cells.  Again, this is adult stem cells or umbilical cord stem cells and again saving children’s lives.


You heard talk about donated IVF embryos, but they will then be killed just for research purposes and will not be able to help any patient specifically.


The lack of an advisory committee will not stop the research.  The research is going on in California and across the country and around the world.  The lack of this advisory committee will permit the research to stand on its own merit.  What works should progress.  What doesn’t work doesn’t need a politically appointed committee from California or any state government.  People will suffer more if resources are diverted through a political system such as the advisory committee as opposed to medically sensible research and treatment.  


Again, there are things that work.  Let the things that work rise to the surface and the things that don’t settle on their own.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Crony.


Let me see whether other members want to comment.  I’ll reserve my comments for closing.


Senator Vincent.


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  You know, I don’t do too much commenting.  I got here late, but I’m glad I got here.  You know I’ve been out with my wife with all of this.


You know, it’s hard.  Mr. Crony said we’re all on the same side.  You know, sometimes I wonder.  It’s embarrassing to me to be a senator and sit and listen to this.  When I see this administrative budget proposal to repeal this, I can’t believe we’re all on the same side.  With diabetes and Parkinson’s and Alzheimer’s and cancer, it’s almost embarrassing in discussing this.  It’s unbelievable that we discuss something like this.  Why should we discuss it?  


I tell you what, personally—if this doesn’t happen, there’s a lot of things that are going to happen that somebody else wants that I’m not voting for in the budget.  There’s no question about that.  And not only me.  Quite a few people like me are not going to vote for it.


And Senator, I appreciate you and what you’re doing.  I mean, I’m sitting up here myself being tormented by listening to this, and I know what you’re going through.  You’ve got my support in any way you need it, and I’m glad to be here, and I’m glad I stayed, and I’m glad I got here to hear this.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’ve always been a wonderful supporter, and I think the public appreciates that, and those that come forward, they do appreciate your patience and all the committee’s members.


Senator Kuehl.  I really appreciate the both of you being here for this.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  I echo the comments of my esteemed colleague here and double them.


I have no patience at all for hurting so many people’s lives by removing what’s essentially, I think in the old days we used to call, “budget dust,” because it is such a miniscule part of such an amazingly huge budget.  And I think that the people who speak to us know that when they see the three of us up here and Senator Chesbro, whose, I think, waiting to present, or whatever—no, just here because he loves us and them and is on the committee and is Budget chair.  Well, that means he’s not always right here.  But I think people who spoke know that everybody is angry, if not more than they are, and feel really frustrated and a little bit nonplussed by this kind of pettiness that’s been shown in a number of areas of the proposed cuts in the budget.


And I agree with Senator Vincent.  I think it’s going to be a very useful thing for those of us who can to take a stand, even if it’s on a few of these so-called little things, to indicate that we’re mad as hell and we’re not going to take it anymore.  And I hope that people who have spoken to us and people who are in these families and people who are in these organizations are essentially flooding the governor’s office with letters about this because, trust me, everybody else is.  If he doesn’t hear about this and doesn’t understand that real Californians are not quite as gaga about him as the papers seem to indicate, it’s going to be a very important kind of truth, I believe, for the whole administration to realize and to know.


Many times our advocates are very polite about these things and feel that they may have expressed themselves and can’t understand why people don’t understand.  I have asked people to please eradicate the word “should” from their vocabulary because “should” doesn’t get us anywhere.  People should care about this and people should know about this, but they don’t and they don’t, so we need to press and advocate and push.  I like the phrase “turn the tears to anger.”  I think it’s a very good thing and a very useful thing.


Thank you, Senator.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Kuehl.


Let me just bring this back to perspective.  I was asked by the chair of the Budget Committee to, along with a number of other things that were proposed in the administration’s budget, to. . . . the message was given to the administration.  There is an attempt to do a number of things in the budget through trailer bill language which had major policy implications that could not be done in a budget removal of dollars but had to be accomplished by affirmatively moving a piece of legislation to repeal the law in place that we passed last year—SB 322—and that had to go through policy committee.  The policy committee agendized it.  We needed a clarification from the administration.  At least the Department of Finance representative was here, but the legitimate question was raised as to whether or not Department of Finance’s position, which doesn’t appear to have. . . . or he could not commit that the May revise would not also continue to eliminate the funding.  That is contradicted by a letter, and I do want to give credit where, for  whatever reason, no matter how late, credit is due from the director of Health Services.  Ms. Shewry delivered the letter today that in fact clarifies that they want me to know that the Department of Health Services is supportive of SB 322 and the underlying policy that we have in place.  The department’s previous opposition to that law reflected concerns about the unfunded workload activities.  So, that is improvement.


The question was raised whether or not Director Shewry’s position is reflective of the governor’s position, and that’s a legitimate question.  And as a result of that, I will be forwarding a letter to our new director and asking her to clarify that very question that the Department of Finance representative was not able to commit to.  It’s the first time that we need a clarification since it appears to be a new policy with this administration to allow the executive branch director in this case to have a position that may not be the position of the governor.  It may indeed be the position of the governor, but I think this committee deserves clarification since that issue was raised appropriately by Senator Aanestad.  So, we will send a letter asking her to clarify and confirm whether or not this is the governor’s position.


As to the question that was raised by Senator Aanestad why we were going to hear from the advocates today, I think it was a fair question in light of the fact that we were attempting to address the fiscal.  But the clarification, again, for the public and others who hopefully are watching and did watch the testimony from their office, is the fact that the administration attempted to do through a budget or a fiscal document a major policy change which warrants policy review by the policy committee, and that is what we are doing today.  In order to discuss the policy, we need to hear from those who are working in the policy area and make the case that this is an appropriate policy for the State of California.  So, once again, I want to clarify that.


The one thing I’d like Finance to do, and I’m going to ask my staff also to send a letter—and Mr. Shinstock, I don’t know if he’s still here or gone already—but what I would like them to do, along with clarifying those cost estimates that were brought in, is to see if they could quantify the potential savings to the State of California by not expending the healthcare costs that we do to treat all of these diseases.  The programs that we fund unfortunately are being cut every day that assist the caregivers in providing the care to those who are diagnosed with these horrendous diseases and who are afflicted with these disorders, and the lost income from those who stay home with their loved ones because they want to do it, because no one else will do it, how much money the State of California is losing in the lost income of those persons who give up careers.  


And I know we’re likely not to get a figure on those costs, but I hope that we will begin to try to look outside the box—to break up boxes, some will say—and ask for the clarification.  I’d certainly be interested in finding out what the tax credit is to the owners of the Hum-Vs, too, and see what that figure is.  I mean, this is a legitimate debate.


UNIDENTIFIED:  [Inaudible.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Rogers suggests it’s a federal tax credit.  Let’s see whether we can quantify that as well and maybe ask the federal government to consider whether we can forward those dollars into medical research.


Mr. Crony is doing his job, but let me just suggest that some of the representations regarding cancer being caused in embryonic stem cell research have been refuted and debated, and most of the medical community comes out on the other side of that.  Let me also suggest that we haven’t seen the promise that we see today for diabetes and production of violet cells in pancreas, nor have we seen those breakthroughs in a lab setting offer anything what adult stem cell nor umbilical cord cell.  Every researcher, even those who are doing umbilical and adult stem cell research, have said very clearly they also believe we need to proceed with embryonic stem cell research.  


We will continue to have this debate, but it’s one that we need to have.  And I thank all of you who’ve been so patient with us to do this and all my colleagues and members who’ve been committed to this.


With that, we are going to, I think, procedurally recess the committee—not adjourn.  We do have measures on call . . .
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